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POLI TZ, Chief Judge:
Convi cted of conspiracy to pass counterfeit Internal Revenue
Service obligations and of the underlying substantive offenses,

EmI| F. Wley appeals. Finding no error, we affirm?

. Wley also has filed various notions with this court,
including a notion for bail, a notion to disqualify tw Assistant
U S Attorneys, a notion for a "Certificate of Reasonabl e Doubt,"
a notion to vacate the judgnent, and a notion to dispose of the
foregoi ng notions expeditiously. W grant the notion for a
speedy di sposition and deny all other notions.



Backgr ound

Wley and Roger Elvick conceived of a scenario in which
various individuals would claim enornous refunds on their tax
returns and execute instrunents purporting to be certified IRS
sight drafts against the refunds to Wley or Elvick, who would
negotiate the ~counterfeit drafts for Jlegitimte negotiable
i nstrunents. Wley sent two of these sight drafts to Thonmas
Nat han Cox, a business associate in Austin, Texas. The first was
drawn by one Arnold Hilgeford in the amount of $990, 000 and arrived
via Federal Express with instructions from Wley to open a
br okerage account, to buy tax-exenpt bonds and not to "use an
attorney or accountant."

Cox took the draft to Prudential-Bache Securities. Its
suspi ci ons aroused by the nultiple endorsenents, Prudential -Bache
notified the RS and declined to accept the draft. The next day
Cox was arrested by the Treasury Division of the IRS. Ofering to
cooperate with the governnent, he tendered a second package from
Wley containing another draft simlar to the first, this one
witten by one Marvin E. Arlien to Wley in the anount of
$1, 000, 100.

Wrking with the governnent, Cox suggested to WIley that he
had a hi gh school friend in the brokerage busi ness who was willing
to negotiate the drafts, further suggesting that Wley fly to
Austin to neet his friend and bring additional drafts. Wl ey
agreed. At a neeting at a local hotel, WIley presented the broker,

inreality an undercover agent, with three additional drafts, one



from Hi lgeford to Wley in the anount of $990,000, another from
Arlien in the anbunt of $4,000 and a third fromE wick to Wley in
the amount of $1,000, 100. Like the other drafts, these were
payabl e through the IRS. WIley was pronptly arrested. Anong his
bel ongi ngs was a .25 caliber Excam pistol.

Wley was indicted for passing counterfeit United States
obligations with intent to defraud, 18 U S. C. § 472, possessing
counterfeit docunents with intent to defraud the United States,
18 U.S.C. 8§ 1002, and conspiracy to engage in these offenses,
18 U.S.C. 8§ 371. Because of a previous felony conviction, he was
i ndicted for fel ony possession of afirearm 18 U. S.C. 88 922(g) (1)
and 924(a). Wile in jail awaiting trial, Wley filed a Currency
Transaction Report falsely stating that the nmagi strate judge who
had handl ed certain prelimnary aspects of his case had engaged in
a $4 mllion transaction with the undercover agent who had
represented hinself as a broker. WIley also was indicted for this
offense, 18 U.S.C. § 1001. Choosing to represent hinself with the
aid of stand-by counsel, WIley was convicted by a jury on all
counts and sentenced to 78 nonths' inprisonnent. Wley tinely

appeal ed and proceeds herein pro se.

Anal ysi s

1. Sufficiency of the indictnent.

W ley raises the instant chall enges to the sufficiency of the

indictment for the first time on appeal. He contends that the



conspi racy count charges several different crinmes, that it contains
| anguage suggesting that the I nternal Revenue Service, the Treasury
Departnent, and the United States are three separate entities, and
that the felony firearmcount also is duplicitous. None of these
contentions has nerit.

An indictnment is sufficient if it (1) contains the el enents of
the offense charged, (2) fairly inforns a defendant of the charge,
and (3) enables the defendant to plead acquittal or conviction in
bar of future prosecutions for the same offense.? "Practical, not
techni cal, considerations govern the validity of an indictnent and
the test of the validity of an indictnent is not whether the
i ndi ctment could have been franmed in a nore satisfactory manner,
but whether it conforns to mnimal constitutional standards."?
Reviewing Wley's indictnment de novo, we find that it satisfies
this standard.? The challenged clause, that defendants "did
wllfully and know ngly conbi ne, conspire, confederate and agree
together and with each other and with ot her persons to defraud the
Uni ted States by i npeding, inpairing, obstructing and defeating the
| awf ul governnental functions of the Internal Revenue Service of

the Treasury Departnent of the United States, and to commt an

2 United States v. Chaney, 964 F.2d 437 (5th Gr. 1992).

3 Chaney, 964 F.2d at 446.

4 We are to construe the indictnent |iberally because
Wley did not raise these objections below. Chaney. However the
indictnment is read, it passes nuster.



of fense against the United States," does not suggest that the
I nternal Revenue Service, the Treasury Departnent and the United
States are separate entities. Nor is the conspiracy count
duplicitous. It cites the two underlying statutes which Wley is
charged with conspiring to violate and lists ten overt acts in
furtherance of the conspiracy. This does not anpbunt to a charge of
multiple crimes in one count.

Finally, the |anguage of the firearm count is not inproper.
"Where a penal statute . . . prescribes several alternative ways in
whi ch the statute may be violated and each is subject to the sane
puni shnment, . . . the indictnent may charge any or all of the acts
conjunctively, in a single count, as constituting the sane of fense,
and the governnent nmay satisfy its burden by proving that the
def endant, by commting any one of the acts alleged, violated the
statute."® That is what happened in this case. 18 U S C
8 922(g)(1l) makes it unlawful for a convicted felon to ship
transport, receive, or possess a firearmin interstate commerce.
Each is an alternative way to violate the statute; each is subject
to the sanme punishnent. The indictment charged two of these
met hods: transportati on and possessi on of the Excampi stol found in
Wley's luggage. The jury was instructed that it had to find only
one in order to convict. The firearmcount charged Wley with only

one offense.

5 United States v. Burton, 871 F.2d 1566, 1573 (11th Cr.
1989); see also Fields v. United States, 408 F.2d 885 (5th Cr
1969) .



2. Suf ficiency of the evidence.

Wley contends that the evidence of conspiracy was so
deficient that it effectively proved a different crine than that
for which he was indicted. He also challenges the sufficiency of
the evidence of intent to defraud the United States. In review ng
a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, we view the
evidence in the light nost favorable to the verdict® and affirmif
any rational trier of fact could have found the essential el enents
of the of fense beyond a reasonabl e doubt.’” Applying this standard,
we find the evidence nore than sufficient.

Wley maintains that there is no evidence of an agreenent to
commt an unlawful act. An agreenent may be inferred fromconcert
of action.? Therefore, Wley's criticism that "the governnment
relied on overwhelmng the jury wth evidence of the acts
t hensel ves" is msplaced. The record al so contains direct evidence
of an agreenent between WIley and Elvick, including Elvick's
representation during a tape recorded tel ephone conversation with
Cox that he and Wley had worked for a nunber of years on the
drafts and that he could "fix Em| wth anything he needs" for the

meeting in Austin, and Wley's representation during that neeting

6 A asser v. United States, 315 U. S. 60 (1942); Chaney.

! Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U. S. 307 (1979); Chaney.

8 United States v. Shively, 927 F.2d 804 (5th Cir.),
cert. denied, uU. S , 111 S.Ct. 2806, 115 L.Ed. 2d 979
(1991).




that Elvick was his partner. |Indeed, Elvick joined Wley in three
recorded tel ephone conversations with Cox to explain the schene.
There also was anple evidence of intent to defraud the
governnent.® WIley knew that the drafts were demands for funds
fromthe Internal Revenue Service; they so stated on their face and
Wley explained to Cox that they were witten against | RS 1040-
Fornms. There al so was evidence fromwhich a reasonable jury coul d
concl ude that he knewthe demands for funds were not legitimte; he
descri bed the schene to Cox as "a bookkeepi ng charade" and war ned
hi m not to involve accountants or |lawers. WIey argues that he
merely was accepting assignnments of refunds from taxpayers in
private transactions. The jurors were not obliged to accept this

interpretation of the evidence. They obviously did not.

3. Resol uti on of objections to PSR

I nvoking Fed. R CrimP. 32(c)(3)(D), WIley contends that the

court failed to resolve his objections to the Presentence

o Intent to defraud the governnent is an el enent of 18
US C 8§ 1002. Contrary to Wley's argunents, it is not an
el ement of the conspiracy offense as submtted to the jury. 18
US C 8 371 may be violated in either of two ways: by a
conspiracy to defraud the governnent or by a conspiracy to
violate a federal law. Tanner v. United States, 483 U S. 107
(1987); United States v. Loney, 959 F.2d 1332 (5th Cr. 1992).
The indi ctnent charged both of these nethods of violating the
statute but the jury was instructed in only the latter:
conspiracy to violate 18 U.S.C. § 472 and 18 U. S.C. § 1002.
Proof of intent to defraud the governnment is not an el enent of
this type conspiracy. Loney. Nor is it an elenent of 18 U S. C
8 472. Accordingly, Wley's conviction for conspiracy to violate
this statute can stand w thout proof of intent to defraud the
United States.



| nvestigation Report. Fed. RCrimP. 32(c)(3)(D) requires the court
to make findings with regard to al |l egati ons of factual inaccuracies
inthe PSR At sentencing, the only specific objection to the PSR
raised by WIley was that the conspiracy conviction was a
m sdenmeanor. This the court rejected. He then delivered a | engthy

speech in support of his "Mdtion to Dism ss,"” asserting violations
of, inter alia, natural law, the confrontation clause, the Speedy
Trial Act, the |l aw nerchant and the | ack of admralty jurisdiction.
These objections were not factual and did not relate to the PSR,
the were beyond the scope of Rule 32(c)(3)(D). This assignnent of

error is neritless.

4. Adm ssion of evidence.

In his defense Wley offered evidence that the |IRS owed
H |l geford a $10 m I lion refund agai nst which the sight drafts were
drawn. He now clains error in the adm ssion of evidence that the
IRS froze Hlgeford's account and placed Hilgeford under
i nvestigation in response to the 1040- Formon whi ch he cl ai ned such
a refund.

Wley first challenges the evidence as hearsay, outside the
Fed. R Evid. 803(8) public records exception to the hearsay rule
because it was offered in a crimnal proceeding and concerned
"matters observed by . . . lawenforcenent personnel."” In applying
this exclusion, however, we distinguish "between |aw enforcenent
reports prepared in a routine, non-adversarial setting, and those

resulting from the arguably nore subjective endeavor of



investigating a crinme and evaluating the results of that
investigation."® Only the latter is excluded fromthe Rul e 803(8)
public records exception to Rule 802's proscription of hearsay
evidence. The bare fact that Hilgeford s account was frozen and
t hat he was under investigationis in the forner category and hence
i's not excludabl e as hearsay.

Wley also maintains that the prejudicial effect of the
evi dence outweighs its probative val ue. Thi s objection was not
raised at trial. Qur review, therefore, may only be for plain
error, that is, error "so fundanental as to result in a m scarriage
of justice." Qur reviewof the record convinces us that adn ssion
of the evidence was not plain error. WIey presented evidence that
the RS owed Hil geford $10 million; in rebuttal the government was
entitled to present evidence that the |IRS had made no such
determ nation. This assignnent of error |ikewiseis wthout nerit.

The convictions and sentences are AFFI RVED

10 United States v. Quezada, 754 F.2d 1190, 1194 (5th Gr.
1985) .

1 United States v. Beaunont, 972 F.2d 91, 94 (5th Cr.
1992) .



